



Marie Philip School Elementary Handbook 2021 – 2022

The mission of The Learning Center for the Deaf is to ensure that all deaf and hard of hearing children and adults thrive by having the knowledge, opportunity and power to design the future of their choice.

TABLE OF CONTENTS:

| General Information | 4 |
|--|----|
| Entrance Requirements | 5 |
| Change of Address / Contact Information | 5 |
| Home/School Communication | 5 |
| TLC's Language/Communication Policy | 5 |
| Program Description | 6 |
| Classrooms and Staffing | 7 |
| Following Teachers | 7 |
| Attendance/Tardiness Policy | 7 |
| Snow Days | 8 |
| Early Release | 8 |
| Family Pick-up for Early Dismissal | 8 |
| Transportation | 9 |
| School Equipment and Lost Textbooks | 9 |
| MPS Breakfast and Lunch | 9 |
| Library Use | 10 |
| Physical Education | 10 |
| Family Sign Language Classes | 10 |
| Support Services: | 11 |
| American Sign Language | 11 |
| Occupational (OT) and Physical Therapy (PT) | 11 |
| Speech and Language | 11 |
| Counseling | 11 |
| Audiology | 11 |
| School Health Service | 11 |
| Physical Examination and Required Immunizations | 12 |
| Medication Policy | 12 |
| Guidelines for Management of Life Threatening Allergies in School: | 13 |

| Emergency procedures | 13 |
|---|-----|
| Required Screenings | _13 |
| Visitor Policy | 14 |
| Appropriate School Attire | 14 |
| Personal Belongings | 15 |
| School Celebrations | 15 |
| Homework | 15 |
| Testing Program | 16 |
| Reporting Pupil Progress (Quarterly Reports) | 17 |
| Behavior Expectations and Consequences | 17 |
| Harassment/Bullying | 18 |
| Nondiscrimination Policy | 19 |
| Bus/Van Conduct | 19 |
| The Learning Center for the Deaf Bullying Prevention and Intervention Report Form | _20 |
| Elementary School Handbook Consent 2021 - 2022 | 23 |

General Information

Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf

848 Central Street Framingham, MA 01701 www.tlcdeaf.org (774) 244-3112 VP

School Hours: 8:00 AM - 2:30 PM Daily September-July

Quarterly Progress Reporting Periods: 1st Quarter: 9/1/2021 - 11/12/2021 2nd Quarter: 11/15/2021 - 1/28/2022 3rd Quarter: 1/31/2022 - 4/29/2022 4th Quarter: 5/2/2022 - 7/28/2022

Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf is a non-profit, non-sectarian day and residential school organized under section 501 (c) of The Internal Revenue Code. It is a 766-approved Special Education School reviewed regularly by The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Department of Education.

Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf admits students of any race, color, religion, national or ethnic origin to all the rights, privileges, programs, and activities generally made available to students at the school.

Entrance Requirements

After receipt of a signed IEP (Individual Education Plan) and a placement page indicating Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf, a child can be formally accepted. Immunization certificates, personal data forms, and emergency authorization will be sent to families and must be submitted prior to the student officially starting school.

Change of Address / Contact Information

To ensure the safety and well being of your child, families should notify the school of any change of address, phone number, VP number, email or other important information as soon as possible.

Home/School Communication

Effective home/school partnerships benefit everyone, especially your child. For this reason, Marie Philip School strives to establish and maintain open communication with families.

Families are provided with the opportunity to volunteer in the classrooms. Families often help with special art or cooking projects, accompany classes on field trips, or assist teachers with classroom preparations and materials. Families are invited to various school meetings, and events (e.g., monthly ASL Storytelling). We are very appreciative of the involvement of our families and enjoy the feeling of community that is created when families visit.

Teachers communicate with families on a regular basis. This can be done through the use of a home/school notebook, via email and through the use of classroom apps. Parents/guardians and teachers determine a mutually agreed upon communication method. As classroom teachers have limited time during the school day, families are encouraged to contact teachers after school (2:45 - 3:30 pm).

In addition, any questions or concerns should be brought to the attention of your child's teacher or the principal.

Teachers, as well as the school principal, will periodically send home memos and notices regarding classroom activities and field trips.

Families will also periodically receive mail announcing school information. Fliers announcing events in the Deaf community or sign language access to local resources are also sent home frequently to better enable families to plan activities that are accessible to their Deaf child.

TLC's Language/Communication Policy

Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf is a bilingual school. American Sign Language (ASL) and English are the primary languages of instruction in the classrooms. In the

majority of circumstances, teachers utilize ASL for communicating academic concepts and for teaching English as a second language. Reading and written English are at the core of all coursework and classroom activities. Literacy in both languages is a principle goal of instruction. Spoken English instruction is also provided for students who have the ability to access speech. How and when a student receives spoken English instruction is determined by the students' current abilities and is agreed upon by the school and family. To allow for equal accessibility to all students, areas are provided for instruction through spoken English.

Complete language accessibility at all times is of paramount importance for students' cognitive, academic, social and emotional growth. Incidental learning plays an important role in the overall education and language development of children. Since most Deaf people access information visually, American Sign Language is the only fully accessible language for all students and other Deaf TLC community members. Therefore, ASL is utilized in the majority of campus communication contacts. Students should be able to "eyedrop" on conversations and be comfortable in all staff interactions. TLC staff members continually strive to develop fluent ASL and English writing skills. If families or visitors to the school would prefer to communicate in spoken English, arrangements can be made to provide English to ASL interpretation through the Learning Center's Interpreting Department.

Program Description

The Marie Philip School Elementary Program typically serves children between the ages of six and twelve years old. The classroom atmosphere promotes the children's overall growth through individual, small and large group experiences. An integral part of the classroom is the concept that children learn best when they are actively involved in their learning. This is accomplished through student-centered activities, the facilitation of critical thinking, and the encouragement of cooperative learning.

The Elementary Program is bilingual as it fosters the development of American Sign Language (ASL) and English. In order to make language and learning accessible to all students, the primary language of most classrooms is ASL. In all subject areas, including English class, English is taught as a language for reading and writing. In addition, some students receive instruction in spoken English and/or communication strategies, depending on their needs. This may include services from a speech and language pathologist (e.g., services within the Spoken English/Communication Department), or from an ASL fluent licensed teacher using sign supported spoken English.

In addition to the general curriculum areas of Language Arts (English and ASL), Mathematics, Science and Technology, and History and Social Sciences, students also participate in American Sign Language, Deaf Studies, literature, health/human development, library/media, art, and physical education classes.

The Elementary Department has also adopted the *Responsive Classroom*, the *Steps to Respect* (STR), *Anti-Bias Education*, and the *Great Body Shop* curricula as a means of fostering social development and encouraging respectful interaction and communication among all classroom members.

The Elementary Department is in the Marie Philip Elementary Building and includes eleven Lower and Upper Elementary classrooms. Within these classrooms, students typically work in groups of two to ten students. The groupings are flexible and vary depending on the changing needs of the students each year. Some students stay with their primary teachers for the majority of the day, while other students work with two or three different teachers throughout the course of the day for different subjects. At times groups combine and their teachers team-teach. The main focus of creating these groupings is for the students to successfully work together and learn from one another.

The elementary staff works as a team and participates daily in collaborative planning and problem solving sessions. Families are an integral part of the program and are welcome in the classroom at any time. In addition, Parent/Teacher Conferences (December and May), informational meetings and ASL classes are available as well.

Classrooms and Staffing

Each classroom is staffed with ASL fluent licensed teachers, often with the support of one or more classroom assistants, depending on the needs of the students. Whenever possible, the classroom is staffed with Deaf and hearing team members, providing role models from each culture.

Following Teachers

All students have a "Following Teacher." In Lower Elementary classrooms, the following teacher is typically the student's primary classroom teacher. In the Upper Elementary classroom, the following teacher may be only one of the student's teachers.

The responsibility of the following teacher is to keep in contact with their following students throughout the day. The Following Teacher is able to develop a relationship with the student and is available to discuss experiences and interactions and provide support if any problems or concerns arise. Also, other TLC staff will bring any issues concerning a particular student to their following teacher is also responsible for writing quarterly reports, the annual IEP, and maintaining regular contact with a student's family.

If families have any questions or concerns regarding his/her child, they should contact either the following teacher or the school principal.

Attendance/Tardiness Policy

Regular attendance and prompt arrival are essential for a child to make progress in school. Students are expected to attend school every day unless they are ill or have been excused for a medical appointment. If a student misses an excessive number of school days, the IEP team will need to reconvene to address this issue. Missing an excessive number of school days may also impact a student's ability to be promoted to the next grade.

The school administration discourages students from taking vacations other than those that are regularly scheduled. If a student is going to be out of school for any reason other than sickness,

his/her family should communicate with the classroom teacher (for grades 1 - 5) requesting any homework the teacher may assign. However, it is up to the individual teacher to determine what can be assigned. The decision about assignments will be based on whether or not the work can be assigned in advance and done without previous instruction from the Teacher.

If a child will not be coming to school or will be very late, it is the family's responsibility to **contact the school before 8:10 AM** either by email: <u>elementarydept@tlcdeaf.org</u> or by VP: 774-244-3112.The school's VP answering machine is always available if you prefer to call very early in the morning. If we do not receive a call or email from you, we will call your home or place of employment to ensure that you are aware that your child is not in school.

Chronic tardiness is a very serious problem. The student who is often tardy is missing a very important part of the school day. If tardiness is due to a transportation issue, the principal will work cooperatively with the family and the transportation company to resolve the issue. If the student continues to arrive late for school, the referring school system will be asked to intervene on the student's behalf.

Please note that the Massachusetts Department of Health regulations require that a student who has recently recovered from a contagious disease (e.g., influenza) not be readmitted to the school without a certificate from their family doctor. If you have any questions about your child returning to school, you should contact the nursing department.

Snow Days

New England winters are often unpredictable. If the weather is severe and causes traveling to be unsafe, a snow day may be called. If it is icy or snowing heavily, please watch your television (Channel 4, 5, or 7), check the internet (e.g., wwe.tlcdeaf.org, Boston Channel.com) or listen to the radio for an announcement that Marie Philip School has closed for the day.

If the Framingham Public Schools are closed due to bad weather, the Marie Philip School is **often** closed as well. However, specific closing information regarding TLC will always be released to the TV/radio stations. Infrequently, Marie Philip School considers an early release if an incoming snowstorm may reach the area in the afternoon or evening. TLC also sends out email/texts to families with information regarding school closure and early release.

Early Release

You will notice on your school calendar that early release days occur each month. These "half days" are used for state-mandated professional staff development and training or before vacation/holiday breaks. On these days, students are released free school at 12:00 page

from school at 12:00 noon.

Family Pick-up for Early Dismissal

You must notify the school (preferably in writing) if you plan to pick up your child early, or if you have

made arrangements to have the cab arrive early for your child. It is also important that you inform us in writing, of who will pick up your child, and at what time you request early dismissal. This allows the teacher to plan class activities that will not interfere with your child's departure and allows your son/daughter to be ready for you on time. Please stop in at the main office and sign in when you arrive.

Transportation

Most students travel to school daily in cabs or vans provided by their towns/cities. Some students are transported to school by their families. All vehicles must plan to arrive by 8:00 AM. Students are able to enter the Elementary School building at 7:45 AM.

A note to the following teacher is always appreciated, when a child is going home in a manner other than their regular transportation (e.g., a child is being picked up by a family member rather than taking his/her cab home). Requests for dismissal by individuals other than families, where there is no written request on file, will not be allowed until a family member can be contacted and can verify the request.

During drop off and pick up parking is limited and parking spaces are assigned to contracted vehicles. We ask that families who are picking up their children park in the front lot of the White House.

Students are expected to conduct themselves in a responsible manner on the vans and cabs. Dangerous or distracting behaviors will not be allowed. If a child's behavior on the bus or cab is determined to be dangerous to him/herself or others, a TEAM meeting will be called to discuss alternatives. This meeting may include the transportation company representative and the referring school district. For your child's safety, please discuss proper bus conduct with your child.

Any changes to the regular cab schedule are the responsibility of the cab company, not Marie Philip School. (For example: if you will be personally picking up your child at school, you must notify the cab company that you will not need their services on that particular day). If your child will be absent, you must notify the cab company. It has been our experience that the transportation companies we deal with are very conscientious and diligent about accommodating your child's needs.

School Equipment and Lost Textbooks

Textbooks, desks, educational materials, and supplies are purchased with school funds and are the property of the school. The school reserves the right to charge students for intentional damage to property, furnishings or equipment. Due to the spiraling cost of textbooks, our policy is that lost textbooks and student agendas will be replaced at the student's expense.

MPS Breakfast and Lunch

The Marie Philip School at the Learning Center for the Deaf provides breakfast and lunches for students. Families are eligible to apply for free or reduced priced meals. Menus are posted on

TLC's website on the family resource page. Breakfast costs \$ 2.25 and lunch \$3.25. Families can pre-pay for their child's meals using the parent portal on the Skyward SIS.

Students are not permitted to bring soda, or drinks in glass bottles.

On the occasion that a student comes to school without a lunch, TLC staff will provide lunch, and ask the family to send in payment the following day. If a student frequently does not bring lunch to school, this issue will be discussed with his/her family.

As several of our elementary students have food allergies (e.g., soy, beans, peanuts) we have an "allergy free" lunch table. Please contact your child's teacher or principal if you have any questions regarding this arrangement.

For safety reasons, elementary students are NOT permitted to use the microwaves during lunchtime. Families are encouraged to send in a thermal lunch container if they are sending in food that needs to be kept warm.

In addition to lunch, students are asked to bring two nutritious snacks (e.g., fruit, pretzels, cereal) each day. In elementary classrooms, students have two opportunities to have snack each day (e.g., when they arrive and at 10:00 AM). The Elementary Department does not provide daily snacks.

Library Use

All elementary students visit the school library on a weekly basis. Students are permitted to borrow a book for a week at a time. Typically students are not permitted to borrow books if they have not returned overdue books. If a student has lost a library book, it is the responsibility of the family to pay for or replace this book.

Physical Education

All elementary students participate in physical education classes twice per week unless the family/doctor provides a written note requesting no participation, or an alternative schedule is agreed upon at a child's IEP meeting. Sneakers are required for children to participate in gym.

Family Sign Language Classes

ASL classes are offered during the evening on the Framingham campus. These classes are available to family members free of charge. Other interested people in the community may attend classes for a fee.

Support Services:

American Sign Language

All Students participate in ASL classes on a weekly basis. Students receive individual ASL tutoring based on their need, which is determined by the student's IEP.

Occupational (OT) and Physical Therapy (PT)

TLC employs both occupational and physical therapists. The students who receive these services do so as part of their IEP. Each therapy session is typically thirty minutes. How often a student attends therapy is determined by his/her IEP.

In order to receive therapy, some of the students leave the classroom and are seen within the OT/PT therapy area. This is particularly the case when the student would benefit from the use of special equipment, or a large therapy area. At times, the therapist will come to the classroom because it is advantageous for a child to be seen within the classroom setting working among his/her peers.

Speech and Language

Spoken English and Communication Strategies programming is available to all students in the Elementary Department. Students receive instruction in spoken English and/or communication strategies based on their need, which is determined by the student's IEP.

Counseling

Counselors are available to support students and their families as needed. The counselor collaborates with faculty regarding a student's emotional or social needs during school hours. Students receive regular individual or group counseling based on their need, which is determined by the student's IEP. In addition, counselors work closely with staff in supporting students when a need arises (e.g., an upset at school).

Audiology

A full-service audiology department serves both outpatients and students at MPS. The educational audiologist provides regular hearing tests, monitors middle ear function, checks and repairs existing hearing aids and cochlear implants, and is always available to parents for consultation. New earmold and hearing aid fittings as well as cochlear implant mapping are available as an outpatient service. The outpatient clinic accepts most private and public health insurances and can check benefit eligibility as needed.

School Health Service

The Nursing Department is available full time and provides basic, preventive and emergency services to students. Regulatory agencies are: The Department of Public Health School Health Unit, The Department of Public Health at the state and local level, The Board of Nursing, The Department

of Elementary and Secondary Education and The Department of Early Education and Care.

The school nurses can be reached at: Ph: (508) 879-5110 x520; [x225 for ECC Nursing Department] *After 4 PM and on Weekends: 508-879-5423* Dedicated Fax: (508) 872-7191 ECC Fax: (508) 308-8014 VP: (508) 283-7450 Email : nurses@tlcdeaf.org

Please contact the nurses any time you have concerns and specifically for the following reasons:

- A new medical diagnosis or change in your child's health status
- A newly prescribed medication
- A change in current medication
- A serious illness, injury or hospitalization
- A contagious disease such as chicken pox, flu, strep throat, whooping cough, ringworm, scabies, impetigo, conjunctivitis or MRSA infection, COVID 19
- If your child is absent for an extended period of time

To allow your child sufficient time to recover from an illness or injury, and to minimize the spread of an infectious illness, your child should be kept home from school if he/she has:

- A communicable disease that may include an upper respiratory illness with significant coughing and/or nasal discharge, or a sore throat, cough and chest congestion with a fever
- A fever greater than 100 degrees your child should not return to school until fever free for 24 hours without the use of fever reducing medications, and until he/she is feeling well and able to participate in the classroom
- Vomiting and or diarrhea in the last 24 hours

Physical Examination and Required Immunizations

Your child is required to have on file an annual physical exam and updated immunizations that have been reviewed by the nurse. Medical immunization exemptions require a certificate from your child 's physician and must be renewed annually.

Religious immunization exemptions require a statement by the families or legal guardian that gives the reason for the exemption and a note from the physician stating that the individual is in good health and able to attend school and must be renewed annually.

Medication Policy

The following statements highlight the main points of the medication policy, which is in compliance with state guidelines:

- We encourage families to administer medication before or after school hours, when possible
- All prescription and over the counter medications require a written physician's order and a completed family consent form. Medications will not be administered without this

documentation

- Medications must be in a correctly labeled pharmacy container that is delivered to the nurse by a family member or responsible adult. Students are not permitted to carry medication to or in school.
- All medication orders expire at the end of the school year. New medication orders, family consent forms, and correctly labeled pharmacy containers are required at the beginning of the school year and whenever a medication order changes.
- On a field trip, prescribed medication may be administered by a trained teacher or assistant with family's written permission.

Guidelines for Management of Life Threatening Allergies in School:

Families should notify the Nurses Office and the classroom teacher and principal of their child's allergy and schedule a phone or on site visit with the nurse to discuss the specifics of the allergy and develop an allergy action plan.

Emergency procedures

In an emergency, 911 and the nurse will be called and families will be notified at the time of the emergency. Your child will be transported by ambulance to the nearest emergency room at the MetroWest Medical Center, Lincoln Street, Framingham, MA, (508) 383-1100, and will be accompanied by a teacher or teacher assistant. During an offsite emergency, such as a field trip, 911 will be called and your child will be transported to the nearest hospital and will be accompanied by a teacher or assistant.

Required Screenings

Hearing, vision, BMI and postural (scoliosis) screenings are provided annually to students depending on age/grade.

Dental Screening is not provided by TLC. Your child is required to be seen by a dentist annually. Please submit documentation from your child's dental visit, a note from the dentist, or a bill is acceptable.

A Health Emergency packet is completed by families yearly and must be completed prior to August 13th to ensure that your child's safety, health and well-being are met and that sufficient time is provided to properly review and administratively handle the forms. Forms, consents and medical documents that arrive past the due date may prevent your child from attending activities such as field trips, until the late arriving forms have been reviewed and processed.

Visitor Policy

To ensure minimal classroom disruption, communication accessibility, and ongoing protection of our student's privacy and safety, the following guidelines will help to make your visit more successful:

All visitors, families, and volunteers must check in at the main office ("The White House") upon arrival. Please do not go directly to the classrooms! All visitors will be asked to sign into the Visitor's Log and receive a Visitor Badge.

Tours may be arranged by calling or emailing the school to set up an appointment. Subject to availability, interpreters will be provided when needed.

Families are always welcome to arrange for an observation or a visit to their child's classroom. These arrangements can be made with the classroom teacher or school principal. Please call or email ahead to arrange for the best time and/or interpreters if necessary.

Often, family members have skills and talents that can be shared in the classroom. This may be a one-time offering or a regularly scheduled routine. Family members who are interested in sharing their time/skills as a classroom volunteer can arrange a schedule with their child's teacher or principal.

To protect our students, any person who volunteers with children must submit a Criminal Records Check (CORI) application. When this background check has been completed, the volunteer schedule will begin.

Please bear in mind that the Marie Philip School at The Learning Center recognizes that incidental learning plays a critical role in the overall education and language development of all children. Hearing children learn a great deal from what they hear around them (e.g., incidental adult conversations, radio and television). Deaf children should also have an opportunity to learn from all conversations around them. For this reason, all communication in open areas of our school should be accessible to students through American Sign Language (ASL). ASL is therefore an essential while you are in any of our classrooms . If a family member is not yet comfortable signing for him/herself, interpreting services will be provided, subject to availability.

When families are visiting the school during non-school hours (e.g., before 8:00 AM and after 2:30 PM), unless otherwise arranged, they are responsible for supervising their children. Elementary students must always be accompanied by an adult in school buildings and on school grounds.

Appropriate School Attire

All students are expected to come to school dressed in a manner that demonstrates respect for him/herself and the educational environment. Students are expected to be appropriately covered. Inappropriate attire might include: t-shirts with inappropriate language and/or pictures, or revealing clothing (e.g., short shorts/dresses, strapless tops). Hats are not to be worn inside of school buildings. For communication purposes, we ask students' faces to be clearly visible (e.g. hoodies are allowed, but the hood may not cover the head or face). Students are encouraged to wear footwear that is safe

for running and climbing on playground equipment (e.g., sneakers) every day. Flip-flops, beach sandals and Crocs are not recommended.

Except in cases of extreme weather conditions, students play outside every day. In the winter months, students are expected to bring a winter coat, snow pants, gloves, boots, and a hat.

In the summer months, the elementary building is always air-conditioned. Some students and staff have found they are more comfortable wearing a sweater or light jacket indoors.

Elementary students have physical education classes twice a week. The students are expected to bring or wear sneakers on P.E. days.

Personal Belongings

On occasion, students have also asked to bring cell phones to school. While this is discouraged, as many students are not mature enough to handle such valuable equipment, we will respect a family's decision to equip their child with such a device. Students will not be permitted to use cell phones during the school day. They must also keep these devices in their backpack or locked in a classroom cabinet.

Because cherished possessions sometimes become lost or broken, if possible students are requested to leave expensive or cherished possessions at home. TLC staff cannot be responsible for students' personal possessions.

School Celebrations

As we continue to incorporate the principles of respecting and embracing differences in an anti-bias educational environment, celebrations will take on a less traditional, all-inclusive meaning. Although we no longer celebrate with goodies and parties on birthdays or other traditional holidays, we encourage each student to share pictures and stories of personal experiences and/or celebrations outside of school. (Note: In order to be respectful of all students in the classroom and avoid hurt feelings **we ask that students not pass out invitations in school**). Since it is our goal to educate students, we welcome assistance from families to strengthen and expand their understanding of the world around them. Please consider coming in and sharing something about yourself and/or your family (e.g., a particular skill, a recent trip, a favorite recipe, or a special tradition).

Homework

Homework is any assignment by a teacher that is expected to be completed after school hours. Homework is useful to promote student responsibility, independent learning skills, and time management.

Homework is also a good communication tool between home and school, so that families understand what skills their child is developing. The family's role should be to provide a distractionfree work area for their child and to provide support and encouragement. Please encourage your child to independently complete as much of the assignment as he or she can.

Marie Philip School at The Learning Center recommends the following times be used as guidelines for families in supervising nightly homework:

| Grades 1-2: | 15 - 20 minutes per night |
|-------------|---------------------------|
| Grades 3-4: | 30 - 40 minutes per night |
| Grade 5: | 45 - 60 minutes per night |

Some students may require more or less time to complete assignments. In general, students will receive homework on a daily basis Monday through Thursday. At times, particularly with older students, homework assignments may involve weekend work as well.

If, after the recommended time, a child is exhibiting an inability to complete the assignment, or frustration, it is better to discontinue homework time. Families are asked to write a note to the teacher explaining the child's difficulty. Students who do not complete homework and do not bring in a note from their families may be required to give up their free time to complete their homework.

In addition, each child is expected to read or be read to for 20 minutes each night. Students should also record their reading in a weekly reading log provided by their teacher.

Families who have concerns about the quantity or quality of the assignments should communicate directly with their child's teacher.

Testing Program

ASL Assessment Instrument (ASLAI) may be administered to assess ASL abilities and measure growth. Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) is administered to most students in grades 2 - 5. Results of these tests are used to improve the curriculum and to help identify academic strengths and weaknesses.

Students in grades three, four, and five are tested through the Massachusetts state testing program. This extensive testing program (MCAS) is part of the statewide effort to improve and reform education at all levels in Massachusetts. Students in 766-approved programs (i.e., Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf) are not exempt from these tests, although an alternate assessment can be a necessary accommodation for some students. These state tests are administered in the spring and cover the areas of English Language Arts, Mathematics, and Science and Technology. Appropriate accommodations (e.g., ASL interpretation, small group administration) are documented in each student's IEP.

Students who participate in an alternate assessment format within the state testing process prepare a personal portfolio throughout the school year. Participation in the MCAS-Alternative Assessment is also documented in a student's IEP. At times, a peer may be asked to participate in a classmate's portfolio activity, which involves classroom discussion or small group activities. When this occurs, families will be asked to sign a permission to participate in the MCAS portfolio program.

Reporting Pupil Progress (Quarterly Reports)

According to the regulations provided under Chapter 766 of the Massachusetts Comprehensive Special Education Law, formal reports of a child's progress in school are made to families and sponsoring communities. Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf prepares these progress reports quarterly. For this year's specific quarterly dates, please refer to the page entitled General School Information in the front section of your handbook.

Families may request a private conference with a teacher at any time throughout the school year. Please allow some lead time, if possible, so that necessary arrangements can be made.

Behavior Expectations and Consequences

Marie Philip School at The Learning Center emphasizes a positive approach to instruction, modeling, and reinforcement of appropriate behavior.

Children want to feel safe, and we believe they will welcome fair boundaries that help ensure their safety. Staff members strive to create a secure and comfortable learning environment that promotes a caring classroom.

Although our goal is to reduce incidents of anger and stress in the classroom, we cannot protect students from all conflict, nor is that a healthy goal. Conflict is an inevitable part of life, and a better goal is to learn to deal effectively with conflict. This is done through helping students learn to negotiate, compromise, learn how to state his/her feelings without forcing them on others. These are all important and necessary life skills.

Changing unacceptable behavior requires patience, time, and opportunities for practice. The first approach to intervention will always be through discussion with the child at a location and time which safeguards privacy and dignity. Expectations for acceptable behavior will be clearly delineated and explained.

The Elementary Department has adopted the Responsive Classroom social skills curriculum. Through this curriculum, we strive to teach a set of social skills that children need to learn and practice in order to be successful academically and socially. These social skills include: cooperation, assertion, responsibility, empathy and self-control – C.A.R.E.S.

Through the Responsive Classroom program, classroom rules and responsibilities are discussed and reviewed throughout the school year. Every effort is made to focus on positive behaviors, which are consistently modeled and practiced. When inappropriate behaviors are repeated, staff will determine and implement "logical" (i.e., natural) consequences.

To ensure that the school climate remains positive and supportive, teaching staff maintain internal documentation of potentially repetitive unsafe or disrespectful conduct. This allows the teaching staff and administrators to address such concerns before escalation.

For detailed information regarding behavior support for children when positive reinforcement

techniques are ineffective and when safety is a critical issue, please refer to Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf's *Behavior Support Policies (including our policy on restraint)* on file in the main office.

Discipline situations sometimes arise which require action to be taken to remove a student from regular school activities for a period of time.

Negative classroom behavior, fighting, malicious damage to property and harassing/bullying behaviors may necessitate the removal of a student from the classroom or activity. Under these circumstances, the student may be placed in the principal's office for a period of time. A meeting with the student will occur to thoroughly discuss the negative behavior or incident before reentry to the classroom can occur. Families are notified of these serious removals.

For more serious or chronic disruptions, an "in-house" suspension for part of the day or for a whole day may be necessary. This always involves giving the student meaningful school work to be completed. At no time is the student deprived of regular snack or lunch. A meeting with the student always occurs to discuss the issue and any possible consequences. Families are notified of all suspensions.

"Out-of-School" suspension is used for extremely serious offenses or repeated uncontrollable misbehavior. This type of suspension would be used to ensure the safety of the student and others. Decisions to utilize suspension may be necessary for, though not limited to, the following reasons:

- possession of a weapon (e.g., a knife, gun, or other harmful instrument) -possession of fireworks
- possession of illegal drugs or alcohol
- possession of prescription drugs and/or over-the-counter drugs -malicious destruction or theft of property
- assault
- obvious forms of harassment/bullying

Families, the Massachusetts Department of Education, and the student's sponsoring town are immediately notified of any student's suspension from school. No suspension at Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf will last longer than three days without a TEAM meeting. The purpose of the TEAM meeting is to discuss the incident, reevaluate the student's needs, appropriateness of placement, and consider any necessary revisions to the IEP. This plan of action will be developed to encourage mutual respect and teamwork for the benefit of the student in question.

Harassment/Bullying

It is the policy of Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf to promote and maintain a working environment and educational atmosphere for students, which is safe and free from harassment and bullying. The Learning Center takes allegations of such harassment/bullying very seriously and will respond promptly to investigate in a fair and judicious manner.

Faculty/staff members are required to report any instance of bullying or retaliation that they become

aware of or witnesses to the school principal. Reports made by students, families, or others who are not staff members, may be made anonymously. Reports may be signed, oral or written. Oral reports or reports made in ASL must be recorded in writing.

The Elementary Department has adopted three programs: *Responsive Classroom, Steps to Respect, Anti-Bias Education*, and the *Great Body Shop*. These programs provide elements of our schoolwide Bullying Prevention and Intervention Plan that has been submitted to the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). This plan includes curriculum for students, ongoing staff development, and a bullying reporting system. This plan in its entirety can be found on the TLC's website. In addition, our bullying report forms are also attached to this handbook.

Nondiscrimination Policy

The Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf strives to provide a safe, respectful, and supportive learning environment in which all students can thrive and succeed in their school. The Marie Philip School prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, sex, gender identity, religion, national origin, or sexual orientation and ensures that all students have equal rights and equal enjoyment of the opportunities, advantages, and privileges.

Public schools in Massachusetts are required to amend their nondiscrimination statute to include gender identity in its policy. As a progressive and an inclusive school, we want to demonstrate our steadfast belief in the above statement.

Bus/Van Conduct

All school-wide expectations for good behavior apply on the bus. The following also apply to ensure a safe trip to and from school and on educational field trips:

- remain seated
 - talk quietly
 - keep head and arms inside the bus
 - do not litter the bus or throw anything out of the window
 - no eating, drinking, or gum-chewing at any time
 - wear seat belts at all times in school vans
 - use a booster seat until they are 57 inches tall and/or eight years old

The Learning Center adheres to the Massachusetts Child Passenger Restraint Law, which states that children must ride in a booster seat until they are 57 inches tall or are eight years old. We ask that families of first, second and third grade students who are not 57 inches tall or eight years old, provide a booster seat for their child on days when the class travels off campus for a field trip.

This handbook was prepared to provide day-to-day information and guidance for all families who attend the Elementary Program at the Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf.

The Learning Center for the Deaf Bullying Prevention and Intervention Report Form

| Name of Reporter | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|
| Check if you are: a target of the behavior the reporter (not the target) | | | | |
| Check if you are a : student staff memberparent administrator other | | | | |
| How do you prefer we contact you? | | | | |
| Information about the Incident: | | | | |
| Name of Target[s] (Person who is the subject of the behavior): | | | | |
| Check One:ElementarySecondaryWS | | | | |
| Name of the Aggressor (Person who engaged in the behavior): | | | | |
| Check One:ElementarySecondaryWS | | | | |
| When did the incident(s) occur? | | | | |
| Before School Morning Lunch After School EveningOther | | | | |
| Location of Incident(s): | | | | |
| Hallway Restroom ClassroomCafeteria/Gym Outdoors Residence Other | | | | |
| Witnesses (List people who saw the incident or who have information about it): | | | | |
| Name: | | | | |
| Student Staff Other | | | | |
| Name: | | | | |

| Student | Staff | Other |
|---------|-------|-------|
| Name: | | |
| Student | Staff | Other |

Describe the details of the incident (Be specific and continue on back of form to fully explain what each person did or said.)

The Learning Center for the Deaf Bullying Prevention and Intervention Incident Report Form (page 2)

| Signature of Reporter or Person filling out this form: | | | | |
|--|--------|--|--|--|
| Date: | | | | |
| Form Given To: | | | | |
| Position | Date: | | | |
| ADMINISTRATIVE USE ONLY | | | | |
| Investigation Assigned to: | | | | |
| Date: | Title: | | | |

Elementary School Handbook Consent 2021 - 2022

I have received and read Marie Philip School at The Learning Center for the Deaf's Elementary Student/Families Handbook.

I have discussed the contents of the handbook with my child.

Student Name: _____

My child's teacher:

Families'/Guardian signature

Date

Please return this form by November 30th, 2021 or complete the online Consent Form Agreement: <u>https://tlcdeaf.jotform.com/211674998577982</u>